CITY OF PASADENA City Council Minutes February 11, 2008 – 5:30 P.M. City Hall Council Chamber

REGULAR MEETING

OPENING:

Mayor Bogaard called the regular meeting to order at 5:50 p.m. (Absent: None)

On order of the Mayor, the regular meeting recessed at 5:50 p.m., to discuss the following closed session:

CITY COUNCIL CONFERENCE REGARDING PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT pursuant to Government Code Section 54957

Employee Title: City Manager

The above closed session item was discussed, with no reportable action at this time.

On order of the Mayor, the regular meeting reconvened at 6:32 p.m. The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Councilmember McAustin.

ROLL CALL:

Councilmembers: Mayor Bill Bogaard

Vice Mayor Steve Haderlein Councilmember Victor Gordo

Councilmember Chris Holden (Returned at 7:56 p.m.)

Councilmember Steve Madison Councilmember Margaret McAustin Councilmember Jacque Robinson Councilmember Sidney F. Tyler

Staff:

City Manager Bernard K. Melekian City Attorney Michele Beal Bagneris City Clerk Jane L. Rodriguez

CEREMONIAL MATTERS

The Mayor presented a proclamation designating the week of February 25 - March 3, 2008 as Peace Corps Week. The proclamation was received by Lassana Toure, Regional Recruiter for the U.S. Peace Corps and returned Peace Corps volunteer in Tonga (2005-2007).

PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

The City Manager introduced Brandon Marcus, sophomore student at the University of Southern California (USC).

Mr. Marcus acknowledged fellow members of a Journalism reporting class at USC who were in attendance and on assignment to report on the Council meeting.

The Mayor welcomed the journalism students.

Rogelio Ramirez, Pasadena resident, spoke about his son, a soldier who was killed in the Iraq war; and asked Council to establish some type of memorial or erect banners that would honor Pasadena's fallen soldiers from the Iraq war.

Councilmember Gordo suggested a proposal for a memorial that would honor Pasadena soldiers who died in the Iraq war along with those soldiers who served in the war be discussed by one of the Council committees.

Councilmembers Madison and McAustin and Vice Mayor Haderlein expressed support for a permanent memorial.

The City Manager noted that staff is moving forward on making this year's Memorial Day celebration a more significant event than in past years, and that he would contact Mr. Ramirez about the event.

Kurt Thorgerson, Monrovia resident, spoke in support of Mr. Ramirez' request for a memorial, discussed various energysaving strategies, and submitted a Fact Sheet regarding energy usage.

Fritz Puelicher, Eaton Blanche Park Homeowners Association representative, spoke in opposition to a proposed urgent care facility at 3160 E. Del Mar Boulevard, expressed concerns regarding the proposed facility and the lack of notification to the neighborhood about the facility, spoke in support of locating any urgent care facility at a site north of the 210 Freeway, and stressed the need to pay attention to residents' concerns and wishes when discussing and considering developments that impact neighborhoods.

Michelle White, Orange Grove Religious Society of Friends (Quakers) representative, asked for Council's assistance in obtaining a permit and/or an accommodation for a religious society to allow for chimney repairs on the Friends' 100-year old building located on Orange Grove Boulevard, and also asked that the Friends be informed about the status of their plumbing damage claim that had been filed against the City about a year ago.

The City Manager indicated staff would contact Ms. White on Wednesday (February 13th) regarding her issues.

June Takenouchi, East Orange Grove Neighborhood Association (EOGNA) President, expressed concerns regarding the City's handling of the proposed traffic light at the intersection of Orange Grove Boulevard and Craig Avenue.

Councilmember Holden returned at 7:56 p.m.

The City Manager noted that the proposed traffic light was in response to the neighborhood's original request for the traffic light; that staff had developed a number of alternatives to address the problems at the intersection; that there is a virtual certainty that the traffic light will not be installed; and that Councilmember McAustin, Vice Mayor Haderlein, and the residents will be informed when the scheduling of a neighborhood meeting about the intersection is finalized by staff.

CONSENT CALENDAR

MINUTES APPROVED

January 28, 2008

CLAIMS RECEIVED AND FILED

Claim No. 10,531 Rosalina Labing Isa \$ Not stated Claim No. 10,532 Levon Migranian Not stated Claim No. 10,533 Jose R. Espino 8,225.00

PUBLIC HEARINGS SET

February 25, 2008, 7:30 p.m. - Issuance of Variable Rate Demand Student Housing Revenue Bonds by the Colorado Educational and Cultural Facilities Authority to Finance Project for Fuller Theological Seminary

March 3, 2008, 7:30 p.m. - General Plan Amendment and Zone Change for 505 S. Wilson Avenue (Caltech)

It was moved by Vice Mayor Haderlein, seconded by Councilmember Robinson, to approve all items on the Consent Calendar. (Motion unanimously carried) (Absent: None)

FROM COUNCIL COMMITTEES

FINANCE COMMITTEE

FORMATION OF THE CITY OF PASADENA ANNANDALE CANYON OPEN SPACE BENEFIT ASSESSMENT DISTRICT

Councilmember Tyler, Chair of the Finance Committee, announced that the Committee had discussed the above agenda item and was requesting the item be pulled from the agenda to allow time for additional data to be provided to the Committee for review.

On order of the Mayor, the above item was removed from the agenda for additional information.

DIRECT THE CITY ATTORNEY TO PREPARE AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTER 8.61 OF THE PASADENA MUNICIPAL CODE ("SOLID WASTE COLLECTION FRANCHISE SYSTEM") TO REFLECT CHANGES AND DEVELOPMENTS IN THE INDUSTRY

Recommendation of City Manager: It is recommended that the City Council approve the proposed changes to the Solid Waste Franchise Ordinance and direct the City Attorney to restructure Chapter 8.61 of the Pasadena Municipal Code ("Solid Waste Collection Franchise System") to reflect changes as outlined in the report and return to City Council in 180 days.

Recommendation of Environmental Advisory Commission: Environmental November 13, 2007 the Commission reviewed the suggested amendments and directed this onto the Waste Reduction Subcommittee for further review. On December 18, 2007, this document was presented to the subcommittee at which time they agreed with staff's recommendation to require 60% recycling for trash and 75% for construction and demolition debris. They also concurred with a proposal to require franchise haulers to provide the outreach literature. These changes have been incorporated into the recommendation. This item went back to the Environmental Advisory Commission on January 15, and they concurred with the staff recommendations.

Councilmember Tyler reviewed the agenda report, noted the Finance Committee's suggestion that the City Manager and the Director of Public Works Department consider imposing a penalty sooner (more quickly than the current time limits) for any hauler who does not pay the fee in a timely manner or who does not meet the diversion requirements, and responded to questions.

Martin Pastucha, Director of Public Works Department, responded to questions regarding the City's compliance with the State's diversion requirements and trash scavenging of recyclables.

Arlington Rodgers, Jr., Administrator of Street Maintenance and Integrated Waste Management, explained the third-party tonnage recycling exception requirements and reporting requirements.

The City Manager outlined problems in controlling recyclables scavenging (e.g., citation authority and manpower needs).

Discussion followed on concerns with trash (recyclables) scavenging, the percentage allowed for third-party recycling exceptions, and concerns regarding the monitoring and confirming of exceptions claimed by the hauler.

Councilmember McAustin suggested the costs to control trash scavenging be discussed as a part of the upcoming budget process in terms of adding Code Enforcement personnel.

Councilmember Gordo expressed concerns with the inclusion of scavenging in the third-party recycling exception and suggested scavenging be removed from the 25% exception, since this amount cannot be measured or documented, and that the 25% exception be eliminated in the future.

Councilmember Tyler asked staff to determine if there is more current information that could be used in the City's regulations on setting emission standards and reducing pollutants by hauling vehicles, rather than the 2000 California Protection Agency Air Resources Board report cited in the agenda report.

It was moved by Councilmember Tyler, seconded by Councilmember Gordo, to approve the City Manager's recommendation, as amended to remove scavenging from the 25% exception, with the understanding that staff will work to phase out the 25% exception in the future. (Motion unanimously carried) (Absent: None)

RECESS

On order of the Mayor, the regular meeting of the City Council recessed at 7:23 pm. to the regular meeting of the Community Development Commission.

RECONVENED

On order of the Mayor, the regular meeting of the City Council reconvened at 7:24 p.m. (Absent: None)

ORDINANCES - ADOPTED

Adopt "AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF PASADENA SUSPENDING SECTIONS 9.36.220 AND 9.36.230 OF THE PASADENA MUNICIPAL CODE RELATING TO NOISE LEVELS AND GENERAL NOISE SOURCES FOR A PERMITTED EVENT AT THE ROSE BOWL AND IN THE ARROYO SECO AREA ON SUNDAY, FEBRUARY 24, 2008 FROM 11:00 AM TO 5:30 PM (THE AMGEN TOUR OF CALIFORNIA CYCLING RACE)" (Introduced by Councilmember Madison) (Ordinance No. 7131)

The above ordinance was adopted by the following vote:

AYES: Councilmembers Gordo, Holden, Madison,

McAustin, Robinson, Tyler, Vice Mayor Haderlein,

Mayor Bogaard

NOES: None ABSENT: None

Adopt "AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF PASADENA SUSPENDING SECTIONS 9.36.220 AND 9.36.230 OF THE PASADENA MUNICIPAL CODE RELATING TO LIMITATIONS ON HOURS OF OPERATION OF AMPLIFIED SOUND ON A SUNDAY FROM 7:00 AM - 8:30 AM AND NOISE SOURCES FOR A PERMITTED EVENT AT VICTORY PARK ON SUNDAY, MARCH 23, 2008 (THE CALVARY CHAPEL OF PASADENA'S EASTER SUNRISE SERVICE)" (Introduced by Vice Mayor Haderlein) (Ordinance No. 7132)

The above ordinance was adopted by the following vote:

AYES: Councilmembers Gordo, Holden, Madison,

McAustin, Robinson, Tyler, Vice Mayor Haderlein,

Mayor Bogaard

NOES: None ABSENT: None

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENTS

NAMING A TRAIL SEGMENT IN THE CENTRAL ARROYO SECO "THE TAD WILLIAMS TRAIL"

Recommendation of City Manager: It is recommended that the City Council approve naming an existing trail segment in the Central Arroyo Seco in honor of Charles "Tad" A. Williams. Recommendation of Recreation and Parks Commission: At its regular meeting of February 5, 2008, the Recreation and Parks Commission unanimously recommended the City Council name the trail in the Central Arroyo Seco and identified in this report, in honor of Charles "Tad" A. Williams.

The City Manager summarized the agenda report.

It was moved by Councilmember Holden, seconded by Councilmember Gordo, to approve the City Manager's recommendation. (Motion unanimously carried) (Absent: None)

NOMINATION OF THE MARGUERITA LANE NEIGHBORHOOD TO THE NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES

Recommendation of City Manager:

- (1) Authorize submittal of the National Register registration form for Marguerita Lane to the State of California Office of Historic Preservation; and
- (2) Authorize future transmittal of a letter from the Historic Preservation Commission to the State Historic Preservation Officer (SHPO) in support of the nomination of the Marguerita Lane Historic District, when the SHPO forwards the nomination to the State Historical Resources Commission.

Recommendation of Historic Preservation Commission: On November 19, 2007, at a noticed public meeting, the Historic Preservation Commission voted unanimously to recommend that the City nominate the Marguerita Lane Historic District for listing in the National Register.

The City Manager introduced the agenda item.

Jeff Cronin, Principal Planner, reviewed the agenda report and responded to questions.

It was moved by Vice Mayor Haderlein, seconded by Councilmember Tyler, to approve the City Manager's recommendation. (Motion unanimously carried) (Absent: None)

PUBLIC HEARINGS

CONTINUED PUBLIC HEARING: DESIGNATION OF 467 E. WASHINGTON BOULEVARD AS A LANDMARK Recommendation of City Manager: It is recommended that the City Council:

(1) Acknowledge that the designation of a historic resource is categorically exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act under Class 8, Actions by Regulatory Agencies for Protection of the Environment (CEQA Guidelines, Article 19,

Section 15308).

- (2) Receive the recommendation from the Historic Preservation Commission that the property 467 E. Washington Boulevard qualifies under Criterion C for designation as a landmark (Pasadena Municipal Code Section 17.62.040 C) because the house embodies the distinctive characteristics of a late 19th century house in a vernacular Queen Anne style from the settlement period of the City's history.
- (3) Acknowledge that pursuant to Government Code Section 37361 the owner of the property (New Macedonia Baptist Church) has submitted a letter to the City Council asserting that landmark designation would create a substantial hardship on the religious congregation and deprive it of economic return on its property, the reasonable use of its property, or the appropriate use of its property in the furtherance of its religious mission (Attachment D of the agenda report).
- (4) As required by Government Code Section 37361, find that designation would create a substantial hardship on the owner, and thereby not designate the property at 467 E. Washington Boulevard as a landmark.

Recommendation of Historic Preservation Commission: On November 5, 2007, at a noticed public hearing, the Historic Preservation Commission voted unanimously to recommend approval of the designation of 467 E. Washington Boulevard as a landmark and that the river-rock embankment wall along the sidewalk be included as a contributing feature to the designation. The Commission also acknowledged in its recommendation that the historic setting of the house has changed and it may be relocated on site or off site.

The Mayor opened the public hearing.

The City Clerk reported 17 copies of the notice of public hearing were posted on January 17, 2008; 88 copies of the notice were mailed on January 17, 2008; and 14 letters in support and 106 letters in opposition were received.

The City Manager explained the current ownership of the property by New Macedonia Missionary Baptist Church and the substantial hardship that is being claimed by the Church.

Richard Bruckner, Director of Planning and Development Department, clarified the State law impacts in restricting landmark designation of a non-commercial property owned by a religious organization.

Jeff Cronin, Principal Planner, reviewed the agenda report and responded to questions.

The City Attorney affirmed there is no discretion on the part of the City in designating the property as a landmark given the substantial hardship claimed by the Church (property owner), and responded to questions.

The following persons spoke in opposition to the landmark designation:

Bob McClellan, architect representing New Macedonia Missionary Baptist Church

Donald Colbert, New Macedonia Missionary Baptist Church representative

Beverly Bogar, New Macedonia Missionary Baptist Church representative

Vice Mayor Haderlein was excused at 7:46 p.m.

The following persons spoke in support of the landmark designation:

Freddie Hannan, Pasadena resident Miriam Nakamura-Quan, Pasadena resident Dale Trader, applicant and Normandie Heights Landmark District representative Bob Kneisel, Pasadena resident

Councilmember Gordo expressed concerns regarding policy issues that can result from an applicant allowed to insert a landmark application into a development process and issues involving a third-party applicant pursuing a landmark designation where the property owner is opposed to the designation.

The City Manager indicated staff would be bringing a report to the Economic Development and Technology Committee with recommendations to address the issues outlined above by Councilmember Gordo.

Mr. Bruckner stated that staff would work with the Church regarding the Church's offer to give the building to anyone who would pay for the removal of the building and with the prospective new owner in expediting the process for moving the building.

It was moved by Councilmember Holden, seconded by Councilmember Robinson, to close the public hearing. (Motion unanimously carried) (Absent: Vice Mayor Haderlein)

It was moved by Councilmember Holden, seconded by Councilmember Robinson, to approve the City Manager's recommendation, and to encourage the property owner (New Macedonia Missionary Baptist Church) to work with staff in relocating the building. (Motion unanimously carried) (Absent: Vice Mayor Haderlein)

CONTINUED PUBLIC HEARING: CALL FOR REVIEW OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 4657 FOR 940 AVENUE 64 (INSTALLATION, OPERATION, AND MAINTENANCE OF UNMANNED TELECOMMUNICATIONS EQUIPMENT FOR CINGULAR WIRELESS)

Recommendation of City Manager: It is recommended that the City Council continue the public hearing to May 5, 2008, at 7:30 p.m.

Councilmember McAustin was excused at 8:00 p.m.

Vice Mayor Haderlein returned at 8:02 p.m. and assumed the Chair.

The Mayor and Councilmember Tyler recused themselves at 8:02 p.m., due to a conflict of interest.

The Mayor returned at 8:03 p.m.

Councilmembers McAustin and Tyler returned at 8:04 p.m.

The Mayor opened the public hearing. He announced that the City Manager had previously stated staff's position that there would be no further continuance beyond the May 5th public hearing date; and that the matter would be heard on that date, or conceivably withdrawn by the applicant prior to the public hearing.

The following person spoke in opposition to the continuance:

Raymond Quan, MD, Pasadena resident

It was moved by Councilmember Madison, seconded by Councilmember Gordo, to continue the public hearing to May 5, 2008 at 7:30 p.m. (Motion unanimously carried) (Absent: Councilmembers McAustin, Tyler, Mayor Bogaard)

CONTINUED PUBLIC HEARING: AMENDMENT TO THE GENERAL FEE SCHEDULE TO INCREASE THE RESIDENTIAL REFUSE COLLECTION FEES BY A TOTAL OF 3.34 PERCENT

Recommendation of City Manager: It is recommended that the City Council, following the public hearing:

- (1) Find this increase is not subject to California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15378(b)(4) (definition of project excludes government fiscal activities which do not involve any commitment to any specific project); and
- (2) Adopt a resolution amending the General Fee Schedule to increase the Residential Refuse Collection Fees by a total of 3.34 percent, as outlined in Table 1. (Resolution No. 8823)

The Mayor opened the public hearing.

The City Clerk reported the notice of public hearing had been published in the <u>Pasadena Star-News</u> on November 26, 2007; 35,378 copies of the notice were mailed on October 22, 2007; and 2 letters in opposition were received.

The City Manager introduced the agenda item.

Martin Pastucha, Director of Public Works Department, reviewed the agenda report and responded to questions.

No one appeared for public comment.

It was moved by Councilmember Gordo, seconded by Councilmember Robinson, to close the public hearing. (Motion unanimously carried) (Absent: None)

It was moved by Vice Mayor Haderlein, seconded by Councilmember Gordo, to approve the City Manager's recommendation. (Motion unanimously carried) (Absent: None)

CONTINUED PUBLIC HEARING: AMENDMENT TO THE SCHEDULE OF TAXES, FEES AND CHARGES TO INCREASE THE SEWER USE CHARGE AND AMENDMENT TO THE OPERATING BUDGET TO INCLUDE FOUR NEW STAFF POSITIONS AND RELATED EQUIPMENT

<u>Recommendation of City Manager</u>: It is recommended that the City Council, following the public hearing:

- (1) Find this increase is not subject to California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15378(b)(4) (definition of project excludes government fiscal activities which do not involve any commitment to any specific project);
- (2) Adopt a resolution amending the Schedule of Taxes, Fees and Charges to increase the Sewer Use Charge by twenty percent in FY 2008, ten percent in FY 2009, and a final ten percent in FY 2010 except if there is a majority written protest against the increase;
- (3) Amend the FY 2008 Department of Public Works' Operating Budget (Budget Account 764320) to add three Public Works Maintenance Worker II positions, one Public Works Maintenance Worker III position, a sewer televising truck and appurtenant equipment, and a sewer cleaning hydro combo unit; and
- (4) Approve a journal voucher appropriating \$848,835 from the unencumbered fund balance of the Sewer Construction and Maintenance Fund to Budget Account 764320 for the increase in staff and equipment listed above.

The Mayor opened the public hearing.

The City Manager indicated that recent questions regarding the sewer charge increases had been presented to staff by the business community and that staff felt the questions raised should be answered prior to the public hearing; and asked that Council continue the public hearing to February 25, 2008 at 7:30 p.m.

In response to Councilmember Tyler's questions, the City Manager and Martin Pastucha, Director of Public Works Department, indicated that information on the financial plan cited on Page 2 of the agenda report and the current unencumbered balance of the Sewer Construction and Maintenance Fund would be provided at the continued public hearing.

It was moved by Vice Mayor Haderlein, seconded by Councilmember Tyler, to continue the public hearing to February 25, 2008 at 7:30 p.m. (Motion unanimously carried) (Absent: None)

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENTS

MATRIX FOR PRIORITIZING RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE GREEN SPACE, RECREATION AND PARKS MASTER PLAN RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendation of City Manager: It is recommended that the City Council approve the Project Matrix (Attachment A of the agenda report) and process for prioritizing recommendations from the Green Space, Recreation and Parks Master Plan, and refer the document to the Recreation and Parks Commission.

The Mayor introduced the agenda item.

The City Manager summarized the agenda report, clarified that prioritization of projects in the Capital Improvement Programs Budget vs. prioritization of the recommendations from the Green Space, Recreation and Parks Master Plan were two different matters that would be handled separately, and responded to questions regarding use of the matrix.

Martin Pastucha, Director of Public Works Department, explained how the matrix would be used by the Recreation and Parks Commission and how the matrix was developed, and responded to guestions.

Patsy Lane, Director of Human Services and Recreation Department, discussed how the City's partnership with the Pasadena Unified School District (PUSD) would fit into the matrix.

Discussion followed on use of the form in evaluating/prioritizing the Master Plan recommendations, definitions for the criteria categories, and concerns about over-emphasizing/weighing Health and Safety as a criterion.

It was moved by Councilmember Holden, seconded by Vice Mayor Haderlein, to approve the matrix, with the Parks and Recreation Commission to use the matrix to make recommendations that will be reflected in a report of the prioritized needs to be presented to Council in 4-8 weeks. (Motion unanimously carried) (Absent: None)

Councilmember Holden stressed the need for the prioritized recommendations/report to be presented to Council as soon as

possible so that funding issues/mechanisms can be discussed and addressed in ballot measures, if called for.

INFORMATION ITEM

PREDEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR TWO NEW OFFICE BUILDINGS TOTALING 72,000 SQUARE FEET AT 221 E. WALNUT STREET (PARK CENTER)

Recommendation of City Manager: This report is being provided for information only.

Richard Bruckner introduced the agenda item.

Jason Mikaelian, Senior Planner, reviewed the agenda report and responded to questions.

Councilmember Holden suggested using this project as a study for placing more parking on-site in a transit-oriented zone as a way to address parking issues related to increased street parking in a transit-oriented district.

Richard Bruckner, Director of Planning and Development Department, commented on staff's thoughts on trying shared parking at the site.

Discussion followed on the need for parking in this area, options for addressing parking issues in a transit-oriented district, monitoring of street parking in a transit-oriented district, coordination of the design of the existing building with the proposed new buildings, and traffic concerns for ingress and egress at the site.

Councilmember McAustin asked staff to confirm whether the project site was part of the Bennett Plan, expressed concerns regarding the adequacy of the proposed parking arrangements for the site, and expressed support for exploring the use of shared parking for this project.

On order of the Mayor, the report was received and filed.

COUNCIL COMMENTS

Councilmember Madison suggested the City express our sympathy for the victims of the shooting incident at the City Hall in Kirkwood, Missouri, and conduct a review of the City's security practices. As the City's representative on the Multimodal Operation and Development Entity (MODE) Board, he commented on the close of the City's purchase of the Del Mar Station Parking Garage and the probable dissolution of the MODE. He also commented on a fundraising event at the LA King's game to be held at the Staples Center on March 6, 2008, with a part of the proceeds to be used in support of the Pasadena Youth Development & Violence Prevention Program.

Ann Erdman, Public Information Officer, confirmed that information on the fundraiser will be put on the City's web site.

Councilmember Holden thanked the community for their support in the passage of Measure B.

Councilmember Robinson reported on the Youth Development and Violence Prevention Committee's discussion of a request for Council's reconsideration of an appropriation of \$50,000 in funding and the need to agendize the item for consideration.

The Mayor indicated that the Youth Development and Violence Prevention Committee was originally given a six-month timeframe that would expire at the end of March 2008, and commented on the need for Council to consider the future of the Committee and modifications that might be made to assist in addressing ongoing issues.

The City Manager noted that staff will have a report with several alternatives for the Committee and a recommendation for Council to consider at the Council meeting of March 10, 2008 (tentatively), and that the funding proposal could be discussed at that time.

ADJOURNMENT

On order of the Mayor, the regular meeting of the City Council adjourned at 9:05 p.m.

Bill Bogaard, Mayor City of Pasadena

ATTEST:

Clerk Clerk

Council Minutes 13 02/11/2008